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Items
Q: I've go| a cLtaracler with multiple

strikes andl give ltim a weapon. Does the

ATK bonus from the weapon apply to all
those strikes or just the first one?

À: All of them.

Q: This seems like a simple one. Can my
cL1 ar acLer s swit c h il erns b elw e en t h e m s e lve s ?

À: No. Once a cLtarac|er has equipped

something, Lte becomes very a|lacLled to iI
and won't hand it ovet lo anyone else (ar

least not wlthout some kind of card effecl).

Q: Can I spend aWat'horse or some other

item to use its action, Ib'en replace it with
al:ioTller copy and. use the action on the new

copy?

À: No. The rules say yo1t can'I equip an

item if you already ltave a copy equlpped,

so you won't be able to equip llne new

Warhorse.

Q: I've qoT a cllaraclet wLto says Lte can

equip a liqhler item. What exactly is a fight-
er lTerrr?

À: It's any ilem with the fighter icon

on it. Classless items lLra| can equippedby
a |lgJn|er are noT fiqlnler rTems.

Actions
Q: I have this action |b'at creales a strike

with an ATK of (for example) *0. Can lhalbe
moditied?

À: Sure. It's modified by items and / or

any modlflers from oTh-er card effects. The

only thinq that doesn't modify it is the char-

acTer's own ATK bonus, which is replacedby
the ATK bonus on Ilte card.

Q: Whenever a card allows a cL1-aracter

with multiple ATK bonuses 10 make a melee

strike, does he geT lo use all of them or iust
one?

À: He just qels one. Use the firsl one

unless the card saYs otherwise.

HitPoints tWounds
Q: Lel's say I have a cltaractet with t hit

point, and I give h1m a bonus hit point. If
Th-al cb.aracler lakes a wound, does he lose

his real hit point or the bonus one?

À: Wounds don't remove hit points; you

b,ave ro keep separale counts of eacIt. If a
characTet ever ltas wounds eqnal Io or

grealer than his hlt points, he dies.

MovingTroops
Q: Can I move a cLtatacler If IhaÏ move-

ment would result in an lllegal tank?

À: Sure, allLtougLt you must immedlately

f1x Ihe lIIegaI rank.

ArmAFormations
Q: I have an lIIegaI rank containing a

stunned cLtan:acIet. CanI move the stunned

cltaracler forward to fix lhe lIIeqaI rank,
and if so, wlta|LtaPPens to him?

À: Yes you can do this. The stunned

cltaracrer remains stunned but suffers no

additional penalties.

Reacts

Q: I'm a bit confused with aII lLrese reacls

thaT happen during a strike. Some happen

afler larqeTlnq, others belore or allet a d1e

ro11. Help!



À: Here's lhe.deal.When.aplayer d.eclares a
strike, either by using a card, or by
announcinq an atTack, Ltere,s Tlte sequence

I. PIay reacls ll,:al occur before
Ihe larqel is ded.ared,

. playr d.eclares the target of the
strike

2. PIay reacls II:raT occur aTTer the tarqeT
is declared

3. PIay reacls lhaT occur belore the die is
rolled

. The die is rolled

Play reacts that occur aitet IIte
die is rolled

PIay reacTs That occur al1ler it is deter-
mined wheTher llte tarqel was hit or
missed.

PIay reacTs ihat occur after wounds
ate sufïered/inflicted

. If a character's wounds still equal
or exceed his hit points, he is killed.

Play reacts afTer a cLtaracler is killed

PIay teacTs after TIte strike ends.

On the surface this seems complex, but it
just follows Lhe loqjcaj sequence of events
durinq a strike. Once you understand the
sequence, flguring out when reacts occur
should be rel,atively slmple. Remember, if
lwo players wish to play a react aI tlte same
ttme,lhe player wi|Lt the initiative qets to
play his or her react first.

Glossarg
Action: Any Order or React, whelher

ïrom a card or listed in the rules.
Àttack: A standard Ord,er IhaT does not

require a card effect. A cLtaracler attacks by
spending to perform a number ol melee
strikes equal lo IIte number of strikes listed in
his or her ATK number (see Smitinq Foes in
the rulebook).

Hit Point: Th.e number of wounds a
characler can Take befote he dies. Found in
the blood drop in the bottom right of each
character card,.

Wound: D amaqe teceived. by a cLtar acter.
Keep lrack of any wounds a cL-Laracter
receives... if the number of wounds equals or
exceeds IIte cltaracTer's hit polnts, lLte cltar_
acter dies.

Your army: A card, in ',your army,, is a
card you put into play that is currently with_
in your ranks.

Section C: Card Rulings
Chàracters : Deverenian. .._

' ' t ",.:ir\
Cardinal Scelus

Can move Devetenians in any atmy
Sir Bhawn d'Ilchant

Actions lhat "qive *Ilevel for casting
spells" (e.9. Symbol of Kor) do not allow
Sir Rhawn to cast 3rd level spells.

Characters: E1f

Kether
If Kether larqels a spent cLtaracter and hjs

strike is redirectedlo a rcady c}.aracIer,
he can stil1 continue with the strike.
Tepheroth

She does no| make characterc in het
army wizards, she just gives tLrem The ablll|y
to cast level 1 spells.
Wfthien

When in an opposing rank,Wythien...

l. has no efIecI on That rank structure,
and so does not count when checking
for illegral ranks.

2. canr.ol use Action card.s because Lte is
not "in your. atmy" (see Glossary)

3. cannol equip items for same teason.

4. can perfotm aclions on his card and
on aTlached and equipped, cards.

Characters:. Mercenary

Doppleganger
Copies current stat (includinq bonuses

from other cards) of target except for ATK,
where it just copies base sta|.

Stâts copled by The Doppleganger also
receive bonuses from any cards allaclred, or
equlpped by The Doppleganqer. e.q. II Itte
Doppleganqer copfes an AC of 16, and- tI has a
Leather Cap equlpped. (AC *D, the *I is applied
after i|s AC is set to 16, qivinq it a ïotal AC
of 17.

Charaters: Nothrog

Grulcth
Multiple Grukths are cumulaliye, so lhree

in the front rank allow Orochoff To make a +g

ranqed strike.
Taoth

Gains her bonus when usinq items that
creale ranged strikes.

7.

8.
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Seetion A:RecentEwata
Àdvareced. Planninq
Change action to read: "B,eact:. Play aITer

lltis cLtaracler perforrns a Spend Order.
If this character has no| performed. a melee
strike this turn, discard a card Io ready llte
characler."

Halberd
Has the lfleapon irai1.
Kharma
This should read:
Beact: Af|er a card effecl makes a die roII

an auTomatrc success, change the resulT to an
aùtomalrc iallure, or yice yersa.

R'eact: LIIer a card eIIecI rnakes a die ro11

a "nalural I," change the result lo a ":nalvraT

20," or vice versa.

S ection B: Common Rules Questions
Levels ê Classes

Q: I have a 41It level fighter who can cast

spells as thouqh Lte were a lsl \evel wtzard,. Il
IhaI TighTer casls Maqic Missile (which creâtes
a number of ranged strikes equal to his
level). how many ranged strikes does he cre-
ale...l. or 4? This one's confusinq |he heck out
oI mer.

À: Ok, there are Two thinqs you need. lo
know when usinq actions tltat refer to a
characrer's level:

1. Whenever a card effect refeïs to a cltarac-
ter's "Ievel," always use the ch.aracler's
curteni level as found within thaicon on
his or her card, but also includlnÇ any
eIf ects lhaT modify lhat lev el.

2. Some effects only modify a cLtaracler's
IeveI while Tlte cltaracler is performlng a

specific aclton (e.g. when castinq a spetD.
When the charactet performs such an

aclion, the modifled level only, applies to
Ilre elfecls produced by thatraciion. Any
reacts to tLte aclion stillruse t]nei. cltarac-
ter's normal 1eve1. Similar|y,lf an effecl
only modifies a cl:LaracTer's class while
perïorming an aclion, the modified class

only applies to the effects produced by
that action.

Q: Hmm, I thlnk I get it. So my fighter
would creale 4 ranged strlkes, riqht?

À: Yep, that's it. While he can only casl
Ist level spells, any spel1 he casts that checks
his level uses his 'real.' Ievel, which is 4.

Q: And iÎ he's been Leveled, prevtously,
how many then?

À: It would be 5, because that's his. ç1+{.-, :,,:::

renllevel (4, plus Tlte permanenT +l'i 6fiç9..:-.,-,-

from lh,e Leyeled).

Q: Ok, this one's a bit trickier. Ihave Sir
RlLawn }:.exl 10 Sir Magws;"".an:d Sir Rhawn kllls
King Xod. Can Sir R'hawn play Leveled?

À: Strangely enough, no. Because of
Sir Magnus, any AcliorL card Ihal Sir Rhawn
plays considers him To be leve\ 6. îherefore
Lte can'l play Letteled wlten h.e ki11s a sth level
cLtaracler.

Tarqeting
Q: Can you explain wlten an action tar'

gels, and more importanlly what an action
targets?

À: Ok, first, fhe general rule - onLy
ÀCTIO!{S tarqetl Which means only effects
preceded by the raits "Order" or "R"eacI" tar-
ge+'

Àn action targ'ets a card when
ù |he actlon declares lhe card as alargel.

b) aIthe time the actron is played., it directly
modifies the attributes. location ar teadi-
ness of a card in play. or reqvires it make
a cLte€.k,.Iest, at save. :. : :.

Notes
I. II a carA fâIis ùnd"er either ù or b), lhen

iI's targeled.. Similarly. if multiple cards
IaIIunder eilher a) or b), all ate taryeted.

2. NoTe The word "directly." This means if
Yaw uses Decay Io temove Bruntor's Helm

Itom Krun, Yaw is:,tlot +directly+ modifying
Krun's HPs. only indirect|y. Thercfore ))aw
would not be Targellng Krun using Decay.

3. Changing a card's location includes both
movinq iI belween or within ranks, and
moving it out of play Qo your hand or
discard pile).

Q: Also, wltal exactly are aTlrlbutes?
I assume ATK, AC, Skill, Level, Class,

Alignment. But is the number of wounds
on a cltaracTer considered an alTrlbuTe?

A: Wounds and IexI box are also consid-
ered allrrbuTel.



Featd
Q: If tÀy character"ltas a FeaT e.q. Riposte

,3, and he equips ar'iTem that also glves him
a FeaI borrus e.q. Riposte t4, rs my,elraracler
now Riposte *3, Rlposte * 4;or, iposte r7?

À: Feats are currruTative, so he's Riposte
+1. ::i

Q: If I target ertafr< of'3 characters with
Meteor Swarwt; and one ol.Illre cllaraclerc
makes a successful Magic Resistance roll.
does the elrtire Meteor Swarmflzzle or d.oes it
flzzTe only for l.hat one cltaracler?

À: It cancels the action, Éo tl:.e enTire

eIfecT will lizzle.
Hand Size

Q: Is there a :maxirnum hand size. and iI
so. when dà I dlscard down?
:,. À: No.:lhere's no maxlmim. If for some

reaÉon yoa end a turn with more than 5

.:qârds, yolt are under no obligation to discard
any of them, bul unfil you do you won'1 be

able lo draw any new ones.

Q: I've got a card IhaI increases my hand
size. Wltat The lreck does that màan? Do,I
draw more cards, or does it just mean I cân'
keep more in,my hand at llne end ôf the turn,
or wLtaT?

À: The standard hand stze is 5. This is
ktow rwany caidsiyou can draw up to durinq
thte Draw Phase. If a card, increases your
hand size by say, one, you could then draw
back up to 6 cards each lurn. ',

S e sti on C: B e e ent Rulings
Àctions
Death is but a Door
Is not a "wizard speIl," and ll'terefore can-

noTbe allached to Tor-Set or Qor-Teth. It is a
spell, it is cast by a wizard, bu| a'wizard
spelf is an aclion card with theWizard,
symbol.

Erhaustion
If a spent characler ltas a weapon and

qoes to equip anotLter, Exhaustion will cancel
the equippinq acTion (causing tLte new weap-
on to be discarded), but the original weapon
will remain equipped.

Gravity Flux
Isr,n6t cumulative.:
Hammer Toss
Can be used to Betf.oËi'n a melee stlke

from tlje 2nd rank, talgelinq an opposing
chataeter in their:Ïst rank.

Melee strjkes qeneraled by an aIlack mùsl
alwëills'- tàr g et an opp osinq ckrar acleî . If a 2nd,
f'ank cltaracl.er declares an aTTack, uses
Hammer Toss to targel an opposing ctraracler
ln their lst rank, but the Hammer loss is can-
ceIled G.q . will1 Exhaustion) , the strlke is lost

unless the aIlacklng cltaracTer can sliTllarqet
an opposinq characler in some olkter way.

Invoke Spirit '-:. ..

Il used wilh Magic 
^,tïssitd 

extgnds llle
range of all strikes by one rank.

Klr.atm.a
' When used as a react to the Glyph of Fate,

Mmrma must be played, when the Glyph is
,used, noT wllter. the rLexl die ro11 is made.

Relentless
If the rogue uses thls Io moye inlo îhe Znd

tank, creating an iTIeqaI rank, lhten uses a

Griffon to fa1l forward into the front rank,
tLte rogue can ll:Leln allack.

Steel to Serpent
TLte weapon retains its orlginal orieîIa-

tion, so if it is spent it remains spenT

Chatacters
Kanq'xi
Iï Lte maneuyers forward one rank and

creaTes an iIIegaI rank, TIten ùses an efIecl to
fall forward without stunnlng k.g. Griffon of
Misear), his react will bring cb,araclers for-
ward from: his original rank, not t]ne i:nleriffi
one.

" Lo*èGahid Rellion
If the initiative roll is iied, Gahid. roll.s

both dice againfor the reroll. ,.i:
II a GlyTth of lale is used by Gahld s army.

and the nexl die roll mad.e is lili:liative.
Gahid's roll is automatically a20. He does not
also qeT to ro11 another die.

Pitfall
Iï he moves after perlorminq his order, Lte

protects The rank Lte was in when he used his
action.

Sir Robert the Vigilant
Brinqs multi-class cltaraclers into play

using their equTyalent \eve| e.q. Ruth Gwenelen

comes into play as thouqh sb.e were AThlevel.
Robert can Therefore brinq her inlo play in
The 3rd rank.

Items
Shadow Token
lf a untque characlæ uses this to move

inlo an opposing formation, llte cltaracTer
is still considered "in your army" Ior IIte
purposes of uniqueness

Wards of Peril
Can'l cancel a. Hammer Toss because llte

Wards can onTy cancel a rcacl played during
à sft1ke Tatqetrng lhe wizard, bLrt when the
Hammer Toss is played, the strike is not yet
larqellng anyone.
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Section C: Recent Rulings
Àctions
Forced March
\ou may only play this card if an'already

stunned Cltaracter falls forward to fix an llle-
gal rank. A spenT CLtaracTer who lalls for-
ward (becoming stunned) cannot be TarqeTed

with this card.

Kiss of Lethe

lÂay be used whenever a player retrieves
a card |rom their deck and puts it in his
olher hand. \es, IhaI includes using King Xod

and similar searckt cardsl
Take Adttantaqe

Must be played by lhe Characler per-
forming lhe melee slrike.

Characters
A1' dri ch v on Grossynkiir

He is a'Draqon Lord,' not a'Dragon' and
a'Lord'.

Arienhod
If she is alone tn a rank, you cannol bring

a CLtaracler into play into the rank behind
her. This is because The new rank would be

Illeqal, andyou canr.oTbrinq a CltaracTer

tnto play if it would creale an llIeqal rank.
Rratten'a

Moved I|erns rema\n in ILte same state of
readiness as Ihey were before TI:.e move.

Iterfls
Rinq of Spiritwrack
The second clause is depend,enl on the

first, so a 20 wtll noT affecl an AsrraI
CLtaracler.

Wards of Peril
Can'T cancel a Hammer Toss because lkte

Wards can only cancel a rcact played during
a slrlke tarqetlrLg lhe wizard, but when the

Hammer Toss is played, the strike is not yet
targeTinq anyone.

' 
))edraw's Tooth

Wounds inflicted by actions during IIte
strike (i.e. Great Cleayù are nol inflicted by
the strike itself, and so will not kill tl]te larqel
if the strike itsell misses.

Other
rlxlnq tanKs

If two or more players simultaneously
sulfler an lllegal rank (i.e. as a result oT Sea of
flame), lhe player with the initiative fixes his
or lner rank first, golng clockwise round the
table.

Feats

If aniTem that qrants Theuse of afeaTis
ltansferredlrom one Cltaracler to anoIlter,
I}re receiving Cltaracler may vse llte feat
even if il was already used by its former
owner.In other words, wLtere a leal says
"Once per turn...", it's actually once per tlffr.
per CLtaracler.

Riposte

If a Characler is larqeled willt a melee

strike by a non-adjacenT Character, he or slte
may stil1 use Riposte aqainsl ILte aTtaclKinq

Characler.
Stealth

If your warlord is in an opposing iorma-
tion, but has no CLtaracters in his own for-
malion, he tmmedlately reTurns to his or her
own first rank. If they were ready, Ih.ey

become spent, and if they were already
spent, Ihey become stunned. This should
have been added To the NoV rulesheel bul
was unfortun ately omilled.

SectionD: GlossarA
Draw a card':. Drawing a cardmeans

taking a cardfromyour deck (not necessarily
the top of your deck) and puttinq lt in your
hand.



Kringle'sBag
lst React may no| be used in response to

The Baq ltse1f being deslroyed.
Staff of Necromancy
If a characler with the Staff of

Necromancy uses Extensions (or any oILter

effect which only allows yiewinq of Ihe i'op X
cards), Ihey may only look al lLte cards irom
the deck, not The discard p1le. Yiewing lhe
Iop X cards is not "searching your deck".

0ther
Non-action text on catds
Q: I'm lold that Lhe IexI on Senek the

Poisoner turns his attacks into actions which
kil1. Is This true?

À: Yes. Non-action TexT on a characTer
card or ilem card equtppedby a characler
can modrfy cerlain actions lb,e characler per'
forms. In parlicular,lhis means ILre IexT on
Senek which tries to kill cltarachers turns his
al|acks lnto actions that kill.

Q: What aboul ))edraw's Tooth? That tries
to ki]I!

À: True, buT that is a distinct actlon
which would kill the larqel, not non-actlon
|ex|.

Q: Is there a guidehne I can use?

À: Yes. If lhe Text is an action Gn Order
or React) which ki1ls, draws a card, and so

on, then iÎ stands aIone, and does not modify
some other action - eyen \15 Trigqer, il it was

a reacl. If iT is not an aclio:n, and is on the
cllarac|eÏ performlng Ih.e acTion, it modifies
ihe action pefiormed (such as Senek). If it is
on t]ne tarqel of an action, it-does not modify
Ikle action. FtnaIIy, if iÎ is non-acllon IexT

wl11cll Itigqers on the card enTerinq p),ay,

such as Daedelia, i1 modifies The ac| of
putTing |h.e card into play.

Q: So this tneans if I am allackinq t]ne

Terror of Sharn Keep, it is not an action to
destroy an ilem Gn eyestalk)?

À: Correct. Since the texT ls on the Terror,
not the character altackinq, it does not
cLtanqe ILte nalure of The other cltatacler's
a|Iack.

Q: But brinqing Daedelia into play is

an aclion which draws a card, and canbe
reacled lo accordingly?

À: Yes, because lnet rro:n-aclionlext
modifies Ihe act of putting lner inTo play.

Scnloe

Multiple spells can be slacked on a
cltaracler actoss several Turns. They can aII
be casl in Ihe same turn if desired.


